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Assistant United States Attorney
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Telephone: (702) 388-6336
Facsimile: (702) 388-6787

G. PATRICK JENNINGS
Trial Attorney, Tax Division
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P.O. Box 683
Ben Franklin Station
Washington, D.C.  20044-0683
Telephone: (202) 307-6648
Facsimile:   (202) 307-0054
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Attorneys for the United States of America

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE

DISTRICT OF NEVADA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. )
)

JOY M. FERGUSON, )
)

Defendant. )
)
)

Civil No. 2:06-CV-00441-LDG-LRL

BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S
MOTIONS TO DISMISS, FOR A
MORE DEFINITE STATEMENT, TO STRIKE
AND NOTICE OF VIOLATION OF RULE 11

This is an action under section 7405 of the Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C.) (“I.R.C.”)

to recover the erroneous refunds of federal income, social security and Medicare taxes totaling 

$4,753.55 that defendant Joy M. Ferguson received as a result of the false statements that she

made on her 2001 and 2002 federal income tax returns. 

Based on defendant’s untenable distinction between a “central” and “general”

government, defendant initially contends that the United States of America “does not exist in

any capacity to file a suit against the Defendant.” (D. Brief, p. 3).   Defendant has also moved

for a more definite statement with respect to certain paragraphs of the complaint without any
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explanation as to why she is unable to understand or answer those allegations. 

Defendant has moved to strike certain words from the complaint, as well as the details

of Peter Hendrickson’s tax fraud promotional material.  Finally, defendant gratuitously asserts

that the attorneys for the plaintiff, the United States of America, have violated Rule 11 of the

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure by making “false representations” that include the assertion

“[t]hat Joy M. Ferguson was issued refunds of ‘taxes.’”  Defendant’s motions to dismiss, for a

more definite statement, and to strike are spurious and should be denied.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.   When the United States makes an erroneous tax refund to a taxpayer, the

Government may bring a civil action under I.R.C. § 7405 to recover the refund.  Section

7405(b) provides, in pertinent part, that “[a]ny portion of a tax which has been erroneously

refunded . . .  may be recovered by civil action brought in the name of the United States.”  The

complaint also alleges that jurisdiction exists under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1340 and 1345. Should

defendant’s motion to dismiss, insofar as it argues that this Court is without jurisdiction to

entertain this action because the United States of America lacked the capacity to commence

this suit to recover the erroneous tax refunds made to defendant, be denied?

2.   For purposes of defendant’s motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the factual

allegations of the complaint are accepted as true and viewed in the light most favorable to the

United States.  Here, the complaint alleges that defendant filed tax returns falsely reporting that

she received no wages in 2001 and 2002 in order to fraudulently obtain refunds of the federal

income, social security and Medicare taxes that were withheld by her employer.  Because a tax

refund based on the misrepresentation that income was not earned is in the nature of an

erroneous refund and can be recovered under I.R.C. § 7405, does the complaint state a claim

upon which relied can be granted?

3.   Defendant has moved for a more definite statement with respect to the allegations

contained in the complaint on subjects ranging from the specific identities of the Department of

Justice and IRS Chief Counsel officials who authorized the erroneous refund suit to the

characterization, as fraudulent, of defendant’s conduct in filing tax returns that falsely reported

Case 2:06-cv-00441-LDG-LRL     Document 6     Filed 06/08/2006     Page 2 of 13




1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 - 3 -       

“zero” or no income in order to obtain refunds of withheld federal taxes.  Such motions are not

favored, and are rarely granted in light of the availability of discovery under the Federal Rules

of Civil Procedure.  Should defendant’s motion for a more definite statement be denied

because the Government’s claims for erroneous refunds are sufficiently definite and the

defendant is reasonably able to respond?

4.   The purpose of a motion to strike under Rule 12(f) of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure is to simplify the pleadings and save time and expense by excising from the

complaint “any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter” which will not have

any bearing on the outcome of the litigation.  Defendant has moved to strike portions of the

complaint with which she disagrees or takes offense (primarily the allegations of defendant’s

fraudulent conduct) without specifying in detail the grounds or reasons for her motion. 

Defendant’s false statements and fraudulent course of conduct are central to the complaint in

this case because they trigger the application of the five-year statute of limitations for

erroneous refund suits provided by I.R.C. § 6532(b).  Should defendant’s motion to strike be

denied because the allegations she seeks to strike are not redundant, immaterial, impertinent

or scandalous? 

FACTS ALLEGED IN THE COMPLAINT 

1. On or about January 19, 2005, and January 18, 2005, Ferguson signed and filed

IRS Form 1040 federal income tax returns for the 2001 and 2002 tax years.  An IRS Form

4852 Substitute for Form W-2 Wage and Tax Statement, or Form 1099-R, Distributions from

Pensions, Annuities, Retirement or Profit Sharing Plans, IRAs, Insurance Contracts, etc., which

Ferguson signed under penalty of perjury, was attached to Ferguson’s 2001 and 2002 Form

1040 tax returns.

2. Implementing the false and fraudulent tax scheme promoted by Peter Eric

Hendrickson, Ferguson’s self-prepared 2001 and 2002 tax returns falsely stated that Ferguson

had no (1) wages, tips or salaries; (2) adjusted gross income; or (3) taxable income during

2001 and 2002.

3. The Hendrickson scheme is based on the false and frivolous argument that the
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terms “wages” and “income” for purposes of the federal income tax and for federal tax

withholding are limited to government employees.  Hendrickson’s theories about the supposed

narrow application of federal income-tax laws (including his arguments that wages are not

income, and that only federal workers are required to pay income taxes) have been uniformly

and repeatedly rejected by the federal courts.  As one court recently said, the claim that wages

are not income “has been rejected as many times as it has been asserted.” Abdo v. United

States, 234 F. Supp.2d 553, 563 (M.D. N.C. 2002), affirmed, 63 Fed. Appx. 163 (4th Cir. 2003). 

Other courts long ago rejected Hendrickson’s claim that wages and income for federal income

tax and withholding purposes mean only wages and income of government employees.  See

e.g., United States v. Latham, 754 F.2d 747, 750 (7th Cir. 1985) (the argument “that under 26

U.S.C. § 3401(c) the category of ‘employee’ does not include privately employed wage earners

is a preposterous reading of the statute.   It is obvious that within the context of both statutes

the word ‘includes’ is a term of enlargement not of limitation, and the reference to certain

entities or categories is not intended to exclude all others.”); McKinley v. United States, 1992

WL 330407 (S.D. Ohio, September. 3, 1992) (“The plaintiffs assert that only federal officers,

federal employees, elected officials or corporate officers are ‘employees’ who are considered

to be taxpayers under the Internal Revenue Code.   The plaintiffs argue, in essence, that the

explicit inclusion of federal officers and employees within the definition of ‘employee’ for the

purposes of the I.R.C. operates to exclude all others from the definition. . . .  However, the

plaintiffs’ interpretation of the law comes from a misunderstanding of the law, and has been

rejected by the federal courts. . . .  In fact, the term ‘employee’ as used in the I.R.C. does

include private wage earners.”)   E.g., Latham, 754 F.2d at 750.

4. Contrary to her representations on her false Forms 4852, Ferguson in fact did

receive IRS Form W-2 Wage and Tax Statements for 2001 and 2002 from her employer,

Carter & Burgess, Inc., that correctly reported her wages and the federal income, social

security and Medicare taxes that were withheld from those wages as follows:
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Tax Year Wages              Income Tax Social Security Tax Medicare Tax

   2001 $21,610 $868 $1,339 $313

   2002 $22,595 $473 $1,400 $327

 But Ferguson did not attach the W-2 forms to her tax returns or otherwise submit them to the

IRS.  Instead, Ferguson attached IRS Forms 4852 (“Substitute for Form W-2, Wage and Tax

Statement, etc.”) to her 2001 and 2002 tax returns, signed the Forms 4852 under penalty of

perjury, and falsely and fraudulently stated on the Forms 4852 that Carter & Burgess had paid

her no (a) wages; (b) social security wages; or (3) Medicare wages during 2001 and 2002.  

5. Pre-printed language on block 9 of the Forms 4852 that Ferguson filed with her

2001 and 2002 Form 1040 tax returns asks “Explain your efforts to obtain Form W-2, 1099-R,

or W-2c, Statements of Corrected Income and Tax Amounts.” In response to this request on

the Forms 4852, Ferguson falsely and fraudulently stated each time:

Request, but company refuses to issue forms correctly listing payments of
“wages” as defined in 3401(a) and 3121(a).  The amounts listed as withheld on
the W-2 it submitted are correct, however.

The quoted language is taken directly from Peter Eric Hendrickson’s tax-fraud promotional

materials.  The quoted language is false because the 2001 and 2002 W-2 Wage and Tax

Statements that Carter & Burgess issued to Ferguson correctly reported her wages of $21,610

and $22,595 for the 2001 and 2002 tax years, respectively.  On information and belief, the

quoted language is also false in stating that (a) Ferguson had requested Carter & Burgess to

issue her W-2 Wage and Tax Statements or corrected W-2s for 2001 and 2002; and (b) that

Carter & Burgess had refused to do so.

6. On or about March 25, 2005, and March 18, 2005, based on Ferguson’s false

and fraudulent representations as described above, the IRS issued income-tax refunds of

$2,538.86 and $2,214.69 for the 2001 and 2002 tax years, respectively, to Ferguson. These

are the total amounts of the withheld federal income, social security and Medicare taxes listed

on the Forms 4852 that Ferguson filed with her 2001 and 2002 tax returns.  
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7. Ferguson obtained the tax refunds of $2,538.86 and $2,214.69 by fraud and by

misrepresentation of material facts, as described above.

 8. Because Ferguson misrepresented, on her 2001 and 2002 Form 1040 tax

returns, that she received no wages or salaries during 2001 and 2002, and claimed credit for

the federal income, social security and Medicare taxes that were withheld from her wages or

salary for 2001 and 2002, the IRS should not have issued the refunds, and therefore the

issuance of the $2,538.86 and $2,214.69 tax refunds for the 2001 and 2002 tax years was, in

each instance, an error.

9. The United States filed its complaint in the instant civil action against the

defendant on April 10, 2006, seeking to recover the erroneous refunds of federal income,

social security and Medicare taxes totaling $4,753.55 that defendant received as a result of the

misrepresentations made on her 2001 and 2002 federal income tax returns.

10. The complaint alleged that jurisdiction was conferred on this Court by 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1340 and 1345 and by I.R.C. (26 U.S.C.) § 7405.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT HAS SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION 

OVER THIS SUIT FOR ERRONEOUS REFUNDS 

A. The legal capacity of the United States of America.

Joy M. Ferguson argues that the United States of America lacked the capacity to sue

and that this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction because the “United States of America” and

the “United States” are not synonymous, and the United States of America is not the proper

plaintiff in the present action.  Contrary to defendant’s frivolous assertions, the complaint

properly asserted jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1340 and 1345 and I.R.C. § 7405.  Such

allegations are sufficient.  See United States v. Ekblad, 732 F.2d 562, 563 (7th Cir. 1984);

United States v. Poole, 916 F. Supp. 861, 862 (C.D. Ill. 1996).  See also United States v.

Furman, 168 F. Supp.2d 609 (E.D. La. 2001) (rejecting objection to indictment based on

distinction between the “United States of America” and the “United States”). 
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B. The IRS erroneously issued refunds to defendant 
based on her fraudulent tax returns.

Next, defendant Ferguson argues that the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over

this action under I.R.C. § 7405 because “[d]efendant did not receive any refund of ‘tax’ for the

years 2001 or 2002.”  (Def. Br. at 3)  Defendant further argues that “[t]here is a lawful

assessment in existence for defendant for each of the years 2001 and 2002” and that “[a]ny

funds returned to defendant by the Internal Revenue Service for the years 2001 and 2002 were

merely the return of the Defendant’s own funds, held as a credit toward any potential tax

liability, which did not and does not exist.” (Def. Br. at 3).  These arguments are patently

frivolous.

Section 7405 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that the United States may bring a

civil action to recover a refund of any tax imposed by the Code that the IRS erroneously

makes.  It embraces two kinds of erroneous refunds.  First, I.R.C. § 7405(a) provides that the

United States may sue to recover a refund described as erroneous in I.R.C. § 6514, i.e., a

refund that should not have been issued because it was barred by the applicable statute of

limitations.  Second, I.R.C. § 7405(b) provides that the United States may sue to recover any

other refund of tax it has erroneously made.  In the present case, the United States seeks to

recover tax refunds of $2,538.86 and $2,214.69 from defendant under I.R.C. § 7405(b).  The

United States also seeks interest on the amounts erroneously refunded, as provided by I.R.C.

§ 7405(c).  Because the refunds were induced by the defendant’s fraudulent

misrepresentations that defendant received no wages in 2001 or 2002, the five-year statute of

limitations provided by I.R.C. §§ 7405(d) and 6532(b) applies and the instant suit is timely.

Defendant filed with her 2001 and 2002 tax returns Forms 4852 (“Substitute for Form W-

2 Wage and Tax Statement, etc.”) that falsely reported that she earned no wages.  The Forms

4852 set forth the amounts of the federal income, social security and Medicare taxes that had

been withheld from her wages by her employer, Carter & Burgess, in 2001 and 2002.  The IRS

subsequently issued credits and/or refunds in the amounts claimed by defendant on her 2001

and 2002 federal income tax returns ($2,538.86 and $2,214.69, respectively).  The refunds,
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which comprised all the federal taxes withheld from her wages in 2001 and 2002, were

erroneously made because they were based on the defendant’s misrepresentations on her tax

returns and Forms 4852 that she earned no wages or taxable income during the taxable years

at issue.

There is no merit to defendant’s argument that she did not receive any “tax” refunds for

2001 and 2002.  Her W-2 forms show the amounts withheld as tax, and the tax returns show

they were claimed as refunds of tax.  The argument that wages are not income, i.e., are not

subject to tax, has been rejected as frivolous for more than 20 years by every court that has

considered it.  See, e.g., Kelly v. United States, 789 F.2d 94, 97 (1st Cir. 1986); Lovell v.

United States, 755 F.2d 517, 519 (7th Cir. 1984); Olson v. United States, 760 F.2d 1003, 1005

(9th Cir. 1985).    See also Perkins v. Commissioner, 746 F.2d 1187 (6th Cir. 1984) (argument1

that wages paid for labor were nontaxable receipts was frivolous).

Defendant is also incorrect when she argues (Bell Ranch. at 3) that “[n]o tax is due and

owing to the United States other than as established by means of a lawful assessment[]” and

“There was no tax liability for the years 2001 and 2002.”  The tax assessments made against

defendant for 2001 and 2002 were based on her fraudulent income tax returns for those years,

which omitted wages paid to the defendant, Joy M. Ferguson, by her employer, Carter &

Burgess, in 2001 and 2002, respectively.

The timing of an assessment does not affect a taxpayer’s tax liability.  See State Farm
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Life Ins. Co. v. Swift, 129 F.3d 792, 799, 800 n.41 (5th Cir. 1997) (recognizing that “under the

Internal Revenue Code, taxes are owed and payable to the IRS at a given time” and that “[a]n

assessment does not create or change the taxpayer’s initial tax obligation that was owed”).  To

the contrary, a tax liability arises, as a matter of law, as a consequence of realizing income over

the course of a particular tax year, not as a consequence of an assessment.  On the date the

return is due to be filed, a taxpayer has “a positive obligation to the United States: a duty to pay

its tax.”  Manning v. Seeley Tube & Box Co., 338 U.S. 561, 565 (1950).  Thus, defendant’s

argument that she were not liable for any taxes at the time the taxes were collected through

wage withholding because no taxes had been assessed is mistaken.  See I.R.C. § 3402(a)(1)

(providing for income tax withholding from wages); Zeier v. United States, 80 F.3d 1360, 1364

(9th Cir. 1996) (rejecting taxpayer-estate’s argument that there can be no payment of tax

before the IRS makes a formal assessment of the estate’s tax liability); Moran v. United States,

63 F.3d 663, 666 (7th Cir. 1995) (“An assessment is not a prerequisite to tax liability.  Though

the [taxpayers] make it out to be more, an assessment is only a formal determination that a

taxpayer owes money.”); see also Laing v. United States, 423 U.S. 161, 170 n.13 (1976)

(assessment is “essentially a bookkeeping notion [that] is made when the Secretary or her

delegate establishes an account against the taxpayer on the tax rolls”).

Finally, defendant’s claims that she had no income tax liability for 2001 or 2002, and that

the IRS accordingly did not erroneously refund the taxes that had been withheld from her

wages are based on the fallacious interpretation of I.R.C. § 3401(c) in Cracking the Code,

which Peter Hendrickson published in July of 2003.   2

On page 76 of Cracking the Code, Peter Hendrickson erroneously states that “So,
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actually, withholding only applies to the pay of federal government workers, exactly as it always

has (plus “State” government workers, since 1939, and those of the District of Columbia since

1921).”    This is a stale argument which has been rejected numerous times in years past. 

See, e.g., Sullivan v. United States, 788 F.2d 813, 815 (1st Cir. 1986); United States v.

Latham, 754 F.2d 747, 750 (7th Cir. 1985) (contention that “under 26 U.S.C. § 3401(c) the

category of ‘employee’ does not include privately employed wage earners is a preposterous

reading of the statute.”); O’Connor v. United States, 669 F. Supp. 317, 322 (D. Nev. 1987).  Joy

M. Ferguson was obviously an employee of Carter & Burgess in 2001 and 2002 within the

meaning of I.R.C. § 3401(c).  Defendant’s employer properly withheld federal income and

employment taxes from her wages, and defendant fraudulently obtained refunds of those

withheld taxes which the United States is now attempting to recover through the present

erroneous refund suit.  Because the complaint clearly states a claim for an erroneous tax

refund for 2001 and 2002 under I.R.C. § 7405, defendant’s motion to dismiss for failure to state

a claim should be denied.

II. DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR A MORE DEFINITE
STATEMENT SHOULD BE DENIED

This is a simple and straightforward case.  Defendant filed false tax returns in order to

obtain tax refunds to which she was not entitled.  Instead of answering the complaint, which

would require her to admit or deny what she has done, she has responded by moving for a

more definite statement without any real explanation as to why such a more definite statement

is necessary or desirable.  Defendant’s Rule 12(e) motion should be denied.

Under Fed.R.Civ.P. 8(a), the complaint need only contain a “short and plain statement of

the claim showing the pleader is entitled to relief.”  Notice pleading, and the availability of

pretrial discovery in civil cases, means that Rule 12(e) motions are not favored.  See Cox v.

Maine Maritime Academy, 122 F.R.D. 115, 116 (D. Me. 1988).  Only where the complaint is

unintelligible, vague, or contains insufficient information to formulate a responsive pleading

should the plaintiff be required to furnish a more definite statement of its claim under

Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(e).  Compuware Corp. v. Int’l Business Machines, 259 F. Supp.2d 597, 600
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(E.D. Mich. 2002).

The allegations of the complaint, as previously discussed, are sufficient to place the

defendant on notice for the purpose of answering the complaint that (1) refunds of sums

certain were made to her for the 2001 and 2002 tax years; (2) that the Government’s action is

timely; and (3) that she is not entitled to the refunds.  See United States v. Com. Nat’l Bank,

874 F.2d 1165, 1169 (7th Cir. 1989) (elements of erroneous refund suit under I.R.C. § 7405). 

The non-objectionable information sought by defendant in her motion for a more definite

statement is available and more properly sought through discovery.  Defendant’s Rule 12(e)

motion should be denied.

III. DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO STRIKE IS FRIVOLOUS
AND SHOULD ALSO BE DENIED

Striking a pleading is a drastic remedy which is often sought as a dilatory or harassing

tactic; accordingly, it is viewed with disfavor and rarely granted.  See, e.g., Lunsford v. United

States, 570 F.2d 221, 229 (8th Cir. 1977); Garlanger v. Verbeke, 223 F. Supp.2d 596, 609 (D.

N.J. 2002).  Not surprisingly, this case does not constitute an exception to the general rule. 

Defendant has moved the Court to strike several words or phrases as pejorative or frivolous as

well as the phrase “tax fraud promotional materials.”  (D. Brief at 8.)  Defendant’s false

statements and fraudulent course of conduct are central to the complaint in this case, however,

because those allegations trigger the application of the five-year statute of limitations for

erroneous refund suits provided by I.R.C. § 6532(b).  As defendant has not demonstrated that

the allegations in question have no possible relation to the present action or may cause

prejudice to her in this non-jury case, her motion to strike should be denied.

IV. DEFENDANT’S RULE 11 NOTICE SHOULD ALSO BE DENIED.

The defendant completes her lengthy motion with a claim that the trial attorney and the

United States Attorney have violated Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure by not

signing the complaint, and by making the allegations in the complaint without evidentiary

support.  Rule 11 is intended to deter baseless or dilatory filings.  Cooter & Gell v. Hartmax

Corp., 496 U.S. 384 (1990).  The defendant does not show Rule 11 violations and fails to
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follow the procedure required in the Rule.  Her motion should be denied.

As is required by the Local Rules of Court, the complaint in this matter was filed

electronically.  The signature was typed electronically on the complaint as required by

Administrative Order 04-2, Appendix A.  Electronic signatures are specifically authorized under

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  Rule 5 states, in pertinent part, that “a court may by local

rule permit papers to be filed, signed or verified by electronic means that are consistent with

technical standards, if any, that the Judicial Conference of the United States establishes.”

Fed.R.Civ.P. 5(e).   Because the electronic signature is permitted by local rule, defendant’s

demand for a non-electronic signature is frivolous, and cannot support a claim under Rule 11. 

Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 11(c)(1)(A) requires that Rule 11 motions be made separately from

other motions, and shall not be filed with the Court until 21 days after service of the motion. 

Defendant’s motion violates both restrictions and should be summarily denied.

Defendant’s claim that the allegations in the complaint are not supported by evidence is

frivolous.  She submits only argument to attempt to support her assertion.  Her bare allegations

are insufficient to support such a motion.  The defendant’s motion should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, defendant’s motions to dismiss, for a more definite

statement, to strike and for Rule 11 violations should be denied.

DANIEL G. BOGDEN
United States Attorney

Date:  June 8, 2006                                          /s/ G. Patrick Jennings 
G. PATRICK JENNINGS
Trial Attorney, Tax Division
U.S. Department of Justice
Post Office Box 683
Ben Franklin Station
Washington, D.C.  20044
Telephone: (202) 307-6648
Facsimile: (202) 307-0054
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on June 8, 2006, I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk of

the Court using the CM/ECF system.  I hereby certify that I have mailed by United States

Postal Service the document to the following non-CM/ECF participants:

JOY M. FERGUSON 
808 Rio Poco Court
Henderson, NV 89015

/s/ G. Patrick Jennings                              
G. PATRICK JENNINGS 
Trial Attorney, Tax Division
U.S. Department of Justice
Post Office Box 683
Ben Franklin Station
Washington, D.C.  20044
Telephone: (202) 307-6648
Facsimile: (202) 307-0054
E-mail: guy.p.jennings@usdoj.gov
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